

## Perinatal Management of Extreme Preterm Birth before 27 weeks of gestation

## A Framework for Practice

October 2019

In collaboration with:





Royal College of Obstetricians & Gynaecologists









## Contents

Executive Summary	3
Members of the Working Group	4
Remit	5
Definitions	6
Risk-Based Approach to Decision-Making	7
1. Assessment of the risk for the baby	7
1a. Gestation-based risk assessment, including mortality and survival with severe impairment	7
1b. Modified risk assessment	8
2. Counselling parents and decision-making	11
3. Agreeing and documenting a management plan	11
Obstetric management	13
Active (survival focused) obstetric management	13
Palliative (comfort focused) obstetric management	14
Neonatal Management	15
Active (survival focused) neonatal management	15
Palliative (comfort focused) neonatal management	15
Implementation of this Framework for Practice	17
Appendix 1: Outcomes for extremely preterm babies	18
Appendix 2: Situations of uncertainty and potential conflict	22
Appendix 3: Communication: Guidance for professionals consulting with families at risk of extreme preter	n delivery. 23
Appendix 4: Helping parents to understand extreme preterm birth	26
Appendix 5: Example scenarios	31
References	33

## **Executive Summary**

- 1. This Framework has been developed by a multidisciplinary working group in the light of evidence of improving outcomes for babies born before 27 completed weeks of gestation, and evolving national and international changes in the approach to their care.
- 2. Management of labour, birth and the immediate neonatal period should reflect the wishes and values of the mother and her partner, informed and supported by consultation and in partnership with obstetric and neonatal professionals.
- 3. Whenever possible extreme preterm birth should be managed in a maternity facility co-located with a designated neonatal intensive care unit (NICU.
- 4. Neonatal stabilisation may be considered for babies born from 22<sup>+0</sup> weeks of gestation following assessment of risk and multiprofessional discussion with parents. It is not appropriate to attempt to resuscitate babies born before 22<sup>+0</sup> weeks of gestation.
- 5. Decision making for babies born before 27 weeks of gestation should not be based on gestational age alone, but on assessment of the baby's prognosis taking into account multiple factors. Decisions should be made with input from obstetric and neonatal teams in the relevant referral centre if transfer is being contemplated.
- 6. Risk assessment should be performed with the aim of stratifying the risk of a poor outcome into three groups: extremely high risk, high risk, and moderate risk.
- 7. For fetuses/babies at extremely high risk, palliative (comfort focused) care would be the usual management.
- 8. For fetuses/babies at high risk of poor outcome, the decision to provide either active (survival focused) management or palliative care should be based primarily on the wishes of the parents.
- 9. For fetuses/babies at moderate risk, active management should be planned.
- 10. If life-sustaining treatment for the baby is anticipated, pregnancy and delivery should be managed with the aim of optimising the baby's condition at birth and subsequently.
- 11. Conversations with parents should be clearly documented and care taken to ensure that the agreed management plan is communicated between professionals and staff shifts.
- 12. Decisions and management should be regularly reviewed before and after birth in conjunction with the parents; plans may be reconsidered if the risk for the fetus/baby changes, or if parental wishes change.

## Members of the Working Group

#### Dr Sarah E Bates

Consultant Paediatrician and Neonatologist, Great Western Hospital, Swindon, LNU and SCU Representative on BAPM Executive Committee

#### Ms Erica Everett

Neonatal Nurse, East of England Operational Delivery Network, representing the Neonatal Nurses Association

#### Dr Tracey Johnston

Consultant in Maternal and Fetal Medicine, Birmingham Women's & Children's NHS Foundation Trust, representing British Maternal and Fetal Medicine Society

#### Ms Caroline Lee-Davey

Chief Executive Officer of Bliss

#### Prof Neil Marlow

Professor of Neonatal Medicine, University College London, representing RCPCH

#### Dr Helen Mactier (Chair)

Consultant Neonatologist and Honorary Clinical Associate Professor, Princess Royal Maternity and the University of Glasgow. President of BAPM

#### Ms Kate Mulley

Director of Research, Education and Policy for Sands - the stillbirth and neonatal death charity

#### Dr Tara Selman

Consultant in Fetal and Maternal Medicine University Hospital Southampton, representing British Maternal and Fetal Medicine Society

#### Dr Lucy K Smith

Associate Professor, Department of Health Sciences, University of Leicester representing MBRRACE-UK

#### Dr Meekai To

Consultant in Obstetrics and sub specialist in fetal and maternal medicine, King's College Hospital, London, representing the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

#### **Prof Dominic Wilkinson**

Professor of Medical Ethics, University of Oxford and Consultant Neonatologist, John Radcliffe Hospital, Oxford.

The working group wishes to acknowledge helpful input from Jessica Jefferys, Parent Representative and the invaluable, voluntary assistance of Phil Johns, Graphic Designer, Managing Director of Respond in preparing the infographics.

We are also grateful to Mrs. Kate Dinwiddy, Executive Manager of BAPM for administrative support

## Introduction

Care of the baby, woman and family around the time of an extremely preterm birth is one of the most challenging aspects of perinatal medicine, both for clinicians and families. In 2006, the Nuffield Council on Bioethics convened a working group to explore the ethical, social, economic and legal issues around clinical decisions made in fetal and neonatal medicine <sup>(1)</sup>; in response to their report the British Association of Perinatal Medicine (BAPM), in conjunction with other professional groups, developed a Framework for Clinical Practice for the Management of Babies born Extremely Preterm at less than 26 weeks of gestation. These documents were based largely on data from the original EPICure study in 1995 of births before 26 weeks of gestation, with some additional preliminary data from EPICure 2 regarding babies born in 2006 before 27 weeks of gestation <sup>(2,3)</sup>. Subsequently, the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG) developed a scientific position paper about the management of delivery at the threshold of viability <sup>(4)</sup>.

The ethical principles that formed the basis for these earlier guidelines have not changed but advances in perinatal care have led to steadily improving outcomes for babies admitted to UK neonatal intensive care units (NICUs), particularly at the lowest gestational ages. In the current era, the outcomes for babies actively managed at 22 weeks of gestation appear similar to those of babies at 23 weeks of gestation at the time of the 2008 BAPM Framework for Clinical Practice <sup>(5-8)</sup>. Reports from other countries confirm increasing survival and improving neurodevelopmental outcome for babies born before 27 weeks of gestation at birth and subsequent intensive care for the most extremely preterm babies <sup>(13-15)</sup>, accompanied by greater acknowledgement of the importance of involving parents in perinatal decision making <sup>(16)</sup>. Reported outcomes are, of course, impacted by willingness to consider active interventions before and after birth <sup>(17)</sup>.

This updated Framework for Practice has been developed by consensus, taking into account the most recent available outcome data both from the UK and internationally, and follows wide consultation. We are grateful for input from the RCOG, the British Maternal and Fetal Medicine Society, the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, MBRRACE-UK, the Neonatal Nurses Association and parent representative organisations including Bliss and Sands. The scope has been extended to include births up to 26<sup>+6</sup> weeks of gestation, better to align with national recommendations and published data, and we refer to new RCPCH and other national guidance on palliative care of babies as well as guidance on bereavement care for parents who experience loss of a baby <sup>(18,19)</sup>.

Prevention of preterm birth is now a national priority and all maternity services should ensure that measures are in place to realise this ambition. National guidance is available to enable prevention strategies; this guidance focuses on the importance of good communication between professionals and parents, strategies to ensure high quality active and/or palliative care as appropriate and interventions to optimise outcomes for babies born too soon <sup>(4,20-22)</sup>.

Perinatal care at extremely preterm gestations will always need to be individualised and should be led by senior staff in midwifery, obstetrics and neonatology. Parents should be included in discussions about perinatal care, and their hopes and expectations explored with honesty and compassion in a realistic way. Decisions should be made together with parents, based on the best available evidence about the prognosis for the individual baby, and mindful of the need to act in the baby's best interests. It is essential that such decisions reflect all relevant prognostic information and not simply gestational age.

### Remit

The purpose of this Framework for Practice is to assist decision-making prior to and/or at the time of birth relating to perinatal care and preterm delivery at 26 weeks and 6 days of gestation or less in the United Kingdom. It does not relate to decision-making around termination of pregnancy.

For some extremely preterm babies, postnatal events may indicate that continuation of neonatal intensive care is not in the baby's best interests. While parents should be made aware of this possible outcome, this Framework does not address decisions around withdrawal or withholding of life-prolonging treatment after a baby has been admitted to a NICU.

The Framework for Practice is aimed primarily at professionals but will be freely available via the BAPM website. We

have included guidance designed to assist health professionals in communicating with parents about the issues and information contained within this document. It is emphasised that each case will be unique, and that communication should always be tailored accordingly. We hope that the Framework will be incorporated into local and network guidelines, to ensure consistency of practice within units and networks and acknowledgement of the importance of individualised care for families.

## Definitions

In the UK, a **stillbirth** is legally defined as the birth of a baby with no signs of life at, or after, 24 completed weeks of gestation.

For consistency, we have used the term "**fetus**" to describe the baby before birth, and "**baby**" after birth. Within the document "**parents**" refers to the mother and her partner.

We have used the terms "active care (survival focused)" to refer to obstetric and neonatal management that has the aim of sustaining life for the baby, and "palliative care (comfort focused)" to refer to obstetric and neonatal management when the aim is not to attempt to sustain the life of the fetus/baby, but to focus on the baby's comfort.

We acknowledge that these terms are imperfect: palliative care requires an active approach to the management of labour, delivery and the care of the baby, and active care may appropriately include no active interventions (e.g. unassisted vaginal birth).

"NICU" refers to a designated neonatal intensive care unit, sometimes termed a level 3 unit.

## **Risk-Based Approach to Decision-Making**

A key ethical consideration for decisions about instituting life-sustaining treatment for an extremely preterm baby is the baby's prognosis – the risk of an acceptable (or unacceptable) outcome if active (survival focused) management is undertaken. If there is a plan to provide life-sustaining treatment for the baby, then it follows that the pregnancy and birth should be managed with the aim of optimising the baby's condition at birth and subsequently.

We advise a stepwise approach to decision-making, involving three key stages:

- 1. Assessment of the risk for the baby if delivery occurs, incorporating both gestational age and factors affecting fetal and/or maternal health.
- 2. Counselling parents, and their involvement in decision-making.
- 3. Agreeing and communicating a management plan.

#### 1. Assessment of the risk for the baby

#### 1a. Gestation-based risk assessment, including mortality and survival with severe impairment

The earlier the ultrasound dating scan has been carried out, the more accurately gestational age will be known. In accordance with NICE guidelines, all pregnant women in the UK should have been offered an early ultrasound scan between  $10^{+0}$  and  $13^{+6}$  weeks of gestation, with crown–rump length (CRL) measurement used to determine gestation. This assessment is accurate to within 5 days in 95% of cases <sup>(23)</sup>. From  $14^{+0}$  weeks (CRL > 84mm), gestation should be estimated from fetal head circumference; the estimated uncertainty of this gestation prediction is 6-7 days at 14 weeks, rising to 12-14 days by 26 weeks of gestation <sup>(24)</sup>.

Survival of extremely preterm infants has increased steadily since 2006 with greater willingness to offer neonatal intensive care. Recent UK data, for babies born in 2016, indicate survival to one year of 38% of those babies 23<sup>+0</sup> to 23<sup>+6</sup> weeks of gestation who received active treatment after birth <sup>(8)</sup> (Appendix 1). Similar survival rates for admitted babies at 22 weeks of gestation are reported but the number of surviving babies at 22 weeks of gestation is small, with appreciable in-labour mortality, and thus the confidence intervals are wider than at later gestational ages. These figures accord with international data which show a trend towards increasing survival at 22 weeks of gestation, with reported survival rates of approximately one third in babies who receive active care at birth. Since only a small proportion of babies born at 22 weeks of gestation receive active treatment, there is the possibility of selection bias and survivors may represent a sub-group of 22 week gestation babies with more favourable risk factors (see below).

At all gestational ages, survival rates show ongoing improvement <sup>(6)</sup>, are higher when the number of live born babies rather than all births is used as a denominator and are highest when babies who receive palliative care at birth are excluded. As survival to live birth will be influenced by management of labour and birth, and the risk of mortality is 100% when a decision is made to offer palliative care, the most relevant denominator is those babies born alive and in whom active management has been attempted. Outcomes are continually changing and management should always be based on the most recent data available; Appendix 1 presents the most up to date data available in September 2019.

Assessment of the risk of severely disabling conditions among survivors is fraught with difficulty, not least differences in individual views about acceptable levels of disability. What for one individual or family may be an acceptable outcome may not be acceptable for another. For decisions about provision of potentially life-sustaining treatment, the ethically relevant consideration is the risk of disabilities that could affect whether it is in the baby's best interests to survive and thus risk assessment should focus on the most severe disabilities <sup>(25)</sup>.

In the absence of regularly updated national data on the prevalence of severe disability after extremely preterm birth, we recommend that the well-established "severe impairment" category, as defined by the 2008 BAPM Working Group, be used to inform parents when discussing risk following extremely preterm birth <sup>(26)</sup>. It is acknowledged that many

more extremely preterm babies will be affected by milder degrees of disability; this should also be included in information provided to parents, with clear explanation that disability is generally impossible to predict for individual babies at birth.

The severe impairment category includes any of:

- severe cognitive impairment with an IQ lower than 55 (< -3 standard deviation); this will usually result in the need for special educational support and require supervision in daily activities
- severe cerebral palsy classified as Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) grade 3 or greater (Appendix 1)
- blindness or profound hearing impairment.

The risk of severe impairment increases with increasingly preterm birth and is currently approximately one in seven at 24 weeks of gestation, and 25% at 23 weeks of gestation for those babies born who receive active care and survive. The number of surviving babies with long term outcome information at 22 weeks of gestation is relatively small, and therefore has wide confidence intervals, but the risk of severe impairment is estimated to be one in three. Generally, as the risk of mortality decreases, the risk of disability among survivors also decreases (Appendix 1).

#### 1b. Modified risk assessment

Accurate information about the current pregnancy, including assessment of both fetal and maternal health should be used to refine gestation-based risk of absolute survival and survival without severe impairment.

A range of factors are associated with increased or decreased risk:

Fetal factors which may increase risk include male sex, multiple pregnancy, congenital anomaly and poor fetal growth.

**Clinical conditions** which pose additional risk and have been associated with increased mortality and morbidity include prolonged pre-labour rupture of membranes before 24 weeks of gestation and clinical evidence of chorioamnionitis <sup>(27,28)</sup>.

**Therapeutic strategies:** administration of antenatal steroid and magnesium sulphate are associated with improved survival and neonatal outcomes as well as reduced risk of childhood impairment, even before 24 weeks of gestation <sup>(29-32)</sup>.

**Clinical Setting:** survival is highest at these extreme preterm gestations in centres with experienced staff and higher patient numbers. A strategy of antenatal transfer below 27 weeks of gestation for birth in a maternity unit with a co-located NICU is recommended <sup>(4,33-37)</sup>.

Following full history taking and risk assessment, the risk of unacceptably poor outcome if life-sustaining care is provided for the baby will generally fall into one of the following categories: extremely high risk; high risk; moderate risk. A proposed visual tool for refinement of risk is illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1: Proposed visual tool for refinement of risk

#### BOX 1

**Extremely high risk:** The Working Group considered that babies with a > 90% chance of either dying or surviving with severe impairment if active care is instigated would fit into this category. For example, this would include:

- $\bullet$  babies at 22^{+0} 22^{+6} weeks of gestation with unfavourable risk factors
- some babies at  $23^{+0}$   $23^{+6}$  weeks of gestation with unfavourable risk factors, including severe fetal growth restriction
- (rarely) babies  $\geq 24^{+0}$  weeks of gestation with significant unfavourable risk factors, including severe fetal growth restriction

**High risk:** The Working Group considered that babies with a 50-90% chance of either dying or surviving with severe impairment if active care is instituted would fit into this category. For example, this would include:

- babies at 22<sup>+0</sup> 23<sup>+6</sup> weeks of gestation with favourable risk factors
- some babies  $\ge 24^{+0}$  weeks of gestation with unfavourable risk factors and/or co-morbidities

**Moderate risk:** The Working Group considered that babies with a < 50% chance of either dying or surviving with severe impairment if active care is instituted would fit into this category. For example, this would include:

- most babies  $\geq 24^{+0}$  weeks of gestation
- some babies at  $23^{+0} 23^{+6}$  weeks of gestation with favourable risk factors.

#### Box 1 represents the consensus of the Working Group in regard to risk categories for the purposes of this framework.

There is no objective way of defining a risk as 'extremely high' versus 'high' and families differ in the outcome that they regard as unacceptably poor. Thus risk assessment may need to be modified in the light of the parents' knowledge, views and values. It is important that parents are offered choices and supported to make decisions appropriate for their individual preferences.

For women presenting to a non-tertiary maternity and neonatal centre, assessment of risk should include early discussion with the relevant referral centre. For pregnancies from  $22^{+0}$  weeks of gestation decisions should not be based on gestational age alone. Within a multiple pregnancy, the risk may differ between fetuses and so each should be considered as an individual. This means that appropriate management may not be the same for each baby, even with the same gestational age. If birth occurs prior to  $22^{+0}$  weeks of gestation active obstetric and neonatal management is not appropriate.

The agreed risk for the baby has ethical and practical implications for the options that should be available.

**Extremely high risk:** For babies with an extremely high risk of death or of survival with unacceptably severe impairment despite treatment, palliative (comfort-focused) care would be in the best interests of the baby and life-sustaining treatment should not be offered. There is no absolute indication for paediatric attendance at the birth although for individual families this may be helpful.

**High risk:** For babies with a > 50% risk of death or of surviving with unacceptably severe impairment despite treatment, it is uncertain whether active (survival focused) management is in the best interests of the baby and their family. Parents should be counselled carefully and parental wishes should inform a joint decision to provide either active or palliative treatment. Ideally, a senior neonatal clinician who has previously met the parents will be available to attend the birth and supervise implementation of the agreed plan.

**Moderate risk:** For babies with a < 50% risk of death or of survival with unacceptably severe impairment, active management would be in the best interests of the baby. A senior neonatal clinician should attend the birth.

#### 2. Counselling parents and decision-making

Whenever possible, parents should be involved in planning an extremely preterm birth. The planning consultation should include senior clinical staff from the obstetric, midwifery and neonatal teams who will be caring for the mother and her baby before, during and after the birth.

The assessed category of risk to the baby (including the inherent uncertainty around this) should be conveyed sympathetically and with clarity, and the hopes and expectations of parents explored with honesty and compassion in a realistic way. Clear, balanced information should be shared and management options discussed. Time should be allowed for clarification and questions, and parents offered the opportunity to revisit discussions with the perinatal team at any point, acknowledging the challenging nature of the information that they are being asked to receive and the decisions that are being made.

In utero transfer to a maternity facility co-located with a NICU should be considered at the earliest opportunity when active management is planned. All such transfers should be discussed with the receiving team, and parents should be made aware that the prognosis (and therefore management) may be revised following in utero transfer to a centre with greater experience of managing extremely preterm birth (e.g. following detailed ultrasound scanning). Communication and agreed plans should be documented in full (including in the maternity handheld record) and, when relevant, clearly communicated with the receiving centre. The agreed plan of management should be revised regularly if pregnancy continues. Parents should also be helped to appreciate that the baby may be born in unexpectedly poor, or unexpectedly good condition, and the implications of this for what care might be appropriate. Processes should be in place to ensure timely transfer.

When active care is planned and time allows, parents should be given an opportunity to visit the neonatal unit and to meet staff and should receive information and support regarding expressing breast milk.

Where appropriate, the practicalities of commencing, withholding and/or withdrawing intensive care and the positive role of palliative care strategies should be described to the parents. This will help prepare them for possible outcomes after the birth. Parents may find the advice and support of their family, friends, spiritual advisers and/or local and national support organisations to be of great value at this time and should be signposted appropriately.

#### 3. Agreeing and documenting a management plan

Following consultation with parents, initial management of the birth will follow one of two pathways: "active (survival focused)" or "palliative (comfort focused)" (Figure 2). Consistency in obstetric and neonatal management is essential, either to ensure that the baby is born in the best possible condition or to avoid unnecessary intervention. The agreed plan should be clearly documented and communicated to all members of the obstetric and neonatal teams who may be involved in care of the family.

The challenges inherent in making a binary decision from a continuum of risk should not be underestimated and categorisation of risk should always be undertaken by the most senior clinicians available. Electronic risk calculators may be of value but care should be taken to ensure they are populated with the most recent data and include the most relevant denominator.

Parents should be counselled that the plan for management will be reviewed and may need to change based on the clinical condition of the baby before, at or after birth, or subsequently in a NICU.



Figure 2. Decision-making around management of delivery, following risk assessment and after consultation with parents.

## **Obstetric management**

#### Active (survival focused) obstetric management

When it has been agreed that potentially life-sustaining care for the baby is appropriate, active obstetric management is important to ensure the baby is born in the best possible condition. An individualised package of obstetric intervention should be offered in all cases where a commitment to active neonatal care is in place <sup>(4,35)</sup>. The potential for each component intervention to optimise the condition of the individual baby at birth should be considered, and not excluded on the basis of gestational age alone. Obstetric management should be regularly reviewed, particularly if events suggest changing prognosis for the baby.

The package of obstetric care to be offered to parents may (but not necessarily) include any or all of the following:

- antenatal steroids
- tocolysis
- antenatal transfer to a tertiary obstetric centre co-located with a NICU
- magnesium sulphate for neuroprotection
- deferred cord clamping, ideally for 60 seconds or more
- intrapartum fetal heart rate monitoring
- caesarean section (if potential benefits are considered to outweigh risks)

Antenatal steroids, tocolytic use, magnesium sulphate and deferred cord clamping <sup>(38)</sup> have been shown to be of benefit in improving outcome in preterm infants. However, parents should be made aware that there is a paucity of data in relation to the magnitude of benefit and risks of these interventions, particularly below 24 weeks of gestation.

In utero transfer to a tertiary centre optimises outcomes for the baby, is better than ex utero transfer and is now a prioritised NHS England recommendation as well being recommended in the Scottish Maternity and Neonatal Services Review <sup>(21,36,37)</sup>. While the majority of women presenting in threatened preterm labour before 27 weeks of gestation do not deliver in the subsequent 24 hours, there is currently no proven test which accurately predicts preterm delivery. Transfer may present challenges for the family as well as obstetric and ambulance services but the Working Group strongly recommends that this is considered at the earliest opportunity. A decision for antenatal transfer should include documented discussion with the relevant tertiary centre and careful risk assessment by a senior obstetrician, to ensure that the mother is fit for transfer and to reduce the risk of birth in transit. Both written and verbal information should be given to parents. In some cases, poor maternal health and/or advanced stage of labour may mean that *in utero* transfer is not the safest option.

Below 26 weeks of gestation, a senior obstetrician should be involved in decisions around intra-partum fetal heart rate monitoring as there is a lack of evidence to inform practice <sup>(20)</sup>. The family should be made aware of the rationale for either recommending or withholding fetal heart rate monitoring; for example, it may be appropriate not to monitor the fetal heart if delivery by caesarean section is not part of the agreed package of care, either because it is considered that the risks of caesarean section outweigh any potential benefits or because parents have declined caesarean section should there be a fetal heart rate abnormality. Autonomic immaturity at gestations below 26 weeks makes interpretation of continuous electronic fetal heart rate monitoring (CEFM) difficult and there is no evidence that CEFM improves outcomes compared to intermittent auscultation. From  $26^{+0}$  weeks of gestation, when active management is planned, women in established preterm labour should be recommended CEFM <sup>(4,20)</sup>.

In the majority of extremely preterm births the mother presents in spontaneous labour and an uncomplicated vaginal delivery may be anticipated. The risk of head entrapment following breech presentation is approximately 10% <sup>(4)</sup> but the evidence for delivery by caesarean section for extremely preterm babies is limited and of poor quality <sup>(39,40)</sup> and prognosis is more likely to be dictated by factors other than mode of delivery. NICE guidance is that delivery by

caesarean section may be considered in cases of breech presentation after 26 weeks of gestation <sup>(20)</sup>. Extremely preterm caesarean sections can be difficult, and fetal trauma including head entrapment can still occur <sup>(4)</sup>. Maternal risks and consequences including pain, haemorrhage, infection, thrombosis and injury to bowel and bladder are higher after caesarean section compared to vaginal birth, particularly at extremely preterm gestations, and should be discussed with the mother. There is an impact on future pregnancies in terms of increased risk of uterine rupture and morbidly adherent placenta, and the likelihood of classical caesarean section, with its increased risk of serious maternal complications, is greatest at the most preterm gestations <sup>(40,41)</sup>. For all these reasons it is essential that obstetric care is individualised after full discussion between the family and a senior obstetrician along with the neonatal team. There should be clear documentation of this conversation and the mother's wishes <sup>(42)</sup>. Where delivery by caesarean section has been agreed as the optimal mode of birth, this should only occur once labour is established, unless maternal or fetal condition dictates otherwise. Established preterm labour can be difficult to determine and even at advanced cervical dilation birth may not occur for several days. There may be additional benefit to the baby of delaying delivery.

In the absence of labour and where delivery should be expedited for maternal reasons (e.g. pre-eclampsia or chorioamnionitis) or, more rarely, for fetal reasons (e.g. severe fetal growth restriction) delivery by caesarean section may be the only option to ensure timely delivery for mother and/or baby. Induction of labour is unlikely to be appropriate in such circumstances where there is maternal or fetal compromise and a commitment to potentially life-sustaining care for the baby has been agreed with the parents.

#### Palliative (comfort focused) obstetric management

When a decision is made for palliative (comfort focused) management of the baby at birth, only interventions for maternal benefit are appropriate. Intrapartum fetal heart rate monitoring is not advised, although assessing or listening for the presence of a fetal heart to check viability may be helpful in clarifying expectations around the baby's condition at birth and be preferable for parents. Parents should be made aware that their baby may show signs of life after birth, including visible heartbeat, gasping and/or movement of limbs.

## **Neonatal Management**

#### Active (survival focused) neonatal management

Stabilisation and support for transition should be carried out by, or under the direct supervision of, the most senior member of the neonatal/paediatric team available at the time of birth, and in accordance with Resuscitation Council UK guidance, noting specific recommendations for preterm infants <sup>(43)</sup>. Ideally this team will be experienced in stabilisation of extremely preterm babies and led by a consultant neonatologist. The team should be aware of parental wishes, but when the baby is born in unexpectedly poor, or unexpectedly good, condition it is reasonable for the attending neonatologist to proceed with care in the baby's best interests (see Appendix 2).

Deferred cord clamping for at least 60 seconds should be routine practice (unless contraindicated), and particular attention should be paid to the maintenance of normothermia, with the use of a plastic bag and/or other methods of delivering thermal care, and skin protection. Stabilisation and supported transition with lung inflation, using an appropriately sized facemask, should be initiated. Care should be taken not to over distend the lungs.

Clinical assessment in the delivery room is not a good predictor of survival in extremely preterm babies <sup>(44)</sup>; if there is no response to mask ventilation, and any doubt around the adequacy of ventilation, the baby should be intubated and surfactant administered. The most important intervention is establishment of adequate lung recruitment, and the most important measure of success is heart rate. Use of advanced measures for resuscitation including cardiac massage and endotracheal or intravenous adrenaline are rarely required following extreme preterm birth. In the absence of sufficient evidence to justify a different approach in extremely preterm babies, if advanced resuscitation is considered appropriate, the Working Group recommends applying newborn resuscitation algorithms as used in more mature babies.

Where babies are born in much poorer condition than expected it may be appropriate to reconsider the planned provision of active management and to move to palliative care (see Appendix 2). Absent heart rate or severe bradycardia persisting despite effective cardiopulmonary resuscitation for more than a few minutes is associated with high rates of mortality and neurodevelopmental impairment in extremely preterm babies <sup>(45,46)</sup>. The most senior experienced attending professional should decide if or when attempts to stabilise and/or resuscitate the baby should stop <sup>(47)</sup>.

Stabilisation should normally be undertaken in the same room as the parents, who should be offered the opportunity to see, touch and photograph their baby. Following successful stabilisation of the baby, the mother should be supported to express breast milk as early as possible, with ongoing facilitation of parental contact and family involvement as partners in care.

#### Palliative (comfort focused) neonatal management

Where there is an extremely high risk of a poor outcome for the baby, it would be considered in the best interests of the baby, and standard practice, not to offer active neonatal management.

The aim of palliative neonatal management is to support the parents and their baby and to avoid interventions that may cause discomfort, pain or separation of the baby from the parents. This care should be delivered in the most appropriate location for the family (which is not necessarily a neonatal unit) and should not necessitate *in* utero transfer. There should be an emphasis on family centred care, with opportunities for parents to create positive memories of their baby. An Individualised Care Plan should be made in partnership with parents following guidance within the Perinatal Palliative Care Pathway from Together for Short Lives <sup>(18)</sup>. Further recommendations may be found in a RCPCH monograph on making decisions to limit treatment in life-limiting and life-threatening conditions <sup>(19)</sup>.

Depending on parents' wishes and service provision, a senior neonatologist or paediatrician may be present at delivery to provide a brief assessment of the baby's condition at birth and to support midwifery staff and the family. Respiratory support (including provision of positive pressure ventilation) should not be provided. Parents should be offered the opportunity to hold and to spend as much time as they wish with their baby in a quiet and private location; they should

have been counselled that the baby may show brief reflex movements or signs of life after birth. In the unlikely scenario of the baby being born in much better condition than expected, palliative management may need to be reconsidered (see Appendix 2 for further discussion).

On average, babies born before 24 weeks of gestation who receive comfort care in the delivery room live for approximately 60 minutes (range from a few minutes to several hours) <sup>(48)</sup>. Supplemental oxygen is not necessary but could be provided if parents desire.

After the baby has died a parent-led bereavement care plan should be put in place for the family, including communicating with parents and creating memories. Parents should understand what to expect in terms of a review into the care provided during pregnancy and birth using the Perinatal Mortality Review Tool, and the benefits of investigations such as autopsy and placental histopathology, to provide as much explanation as possible for the preterm birth and the death of their baby <sup>(18)</sup> In England and Scotland this should follow the guidance outlined in the National Bereavement Care Pathway <sup>(49)</sup>; in Wales and Northern Ireland there are locally developed bereavement pathways. Parents should be facilitated to make informed choices and signposted to support available after they go home. Follow up pathways for all women who have undergone an extremely preterm birth should be in place and include planning care for future pregnancies. Placental histology, undertaken by a perinatal pathologist, should be routine.

After discharge home, optimal communication with all professionals involved (and in particular the GP, health visitor and community midwife) is essential. The mother will continue to require postnatal care and should also receive information and advice about milk suppression or donation. Parents should be offered bereavement counselling and the opportunity to meet with perinatal staff for a follow up consultation in an outpatient setting. Where possible, this meeting should be conducted by the same staff that counselled the family in the peripartum period. Parents should also be offered the opportunity to participate in a multi-professional perinatal mortality review process that follows the framework set out in published statutory and operational guidance <sup>(49)</sup>. At an appropriate time, the prognosis for future pregnancies should also be discussed.

## Implementation of this Framework for Practice

A lead person should be identified in each maternity facility with responsibility for implementation, education, and dissemination of this new Framework for Practice and the accompanying parent information.

Links to relevant national documents are provided within this document; these should be highlighted and made easily available within each maternity facility.

Management of extreme preterm birth and the conversations around this can be exceptionally challenging for staff, so it is recommended that implementation of this Framework into individual units is accompanied by education and training in specific consultation skills. Some guidance is offered in Appendix 3 and a suggested format for parental information is to be found in Appendix 4. Examples scenarios are provided in Appendix 5 for discussion and learning.

Networks need to ensure sufficient resource to cope with the predicted number of extreme preterm deliveries, both actual and threatened, and pathways should be in place to ensure appropriate prioritisation and assessment of women likely to deliver extremely preterm. A newly delivered mother should be accommodated in a maternity facility adjacent to her baby.

**Appendices and Resources** 

## Appendix 1: Outcomes for extremely preterm babies

#### Survival/Mortality

International studies indicate incremental improvements in survival for the most premature babies over the last 1-2 decades. There is wide variation in survival estimates of live born babies (for example, from 3 - 22% at 22 weeks and 39 - 70% at 24 weeks of gestation), influenced by cohort selection, place of birth and variation in provision of active obstetric and neonatal treatment <sup>(12)</sup>. The largest changes in outcome appear to be at the lowest gestational ages. In particular, at 22 weeks of gestation, recent cohort studies from US, Sweden and Germany <sup>(9-12)</sup> indicate that approximately 30% of live born babies who receive active treatment survive to discharge.

The latest data on outcome for extremely premature babies in the UK are presented in Table 1 (source: MBRRACE-UK) <sup>(8)</sup>. Survival has increased steadily since 2006 and currently active respiratory care is offered to 88% of babies at 23 weeks and 23% of births at 22 weeks of gestation. Survival at 22 weeks of gestation is based on small numbers of babies and thus the confidence limits are wider than at other gestational weeks. It is probable that selection of babies for active treatment is biased towards those with best outlook, and so expected survival following active (survival focused) management for all infants born at 22 weeks of gestation is likely to be lower than the reported survival figures. Figure 3 displays graphically the estimated survival rates at different gestations for babies who are provided with active care in the UK compared to 3 recent publications; recent MBRRACE-UK findings are consistent with those in other settings.



Figure 3: Estimated survival if active (survival focused) care is provided, comparing UK with recent international studies <sup>(8,9,11,12)</sup>

Table 1: Number and percentage of births, including births where the fetus was alive at onset of labour, live births, births receiving active care, admissions for neonatal care and survival to 1 year of age for births in 2016 in the UK. Recording of active care on the MBRRACE-UK database commenced during 2016 and thus rates are inferred from recording of a total of only 292 deaths <sup>(8)</sup>.

Gestational Week	22 weeks	23 weeks	24 weeks	25 weeks	26 weeks
All births	486	510	656	664	832
Births alive at onset of labour	290	362	497	508	674
Live births	183	301	456	486	662
% live births (of those alive at onset of labour)	63%	83%	92%	96%	98%
	57 to 69	79 to 87	90 to 94	94 to 98	97 to 99
Delivery room deaths	155	78	26	19	16
% deaths before admission	85%	26%	6%	4%	2%
	80 to 90	21 to 31	4 to 8	2 to 6	1 to 3
Live births receiving active care	43	264	449	486	662
% receiving active care (of all live births)	23%	88%	98%	100%	100%
Admitted for neonatal care	28	223	430	467	646
% admitted for neonatal care	65%	85%	96%	96%	98%
(of births receiving active care)	51 to 79	81 to 89	94 to 98	94 to 98	97 to 99
Deaths < 1 year	13	122	160	108	106
Survivors to 1 year	15	101	270	359	540
Survival					
Of those alive in labour	5%	28%	54%	71%	80%
	2 to 8	23 to 33	50 to 58	67 to 75	77 to 83
Of live births receiving active care	35%	38%	60%	74%	82%
	21 to 49	32 to 44	55 to 65	70 to 78	79 to 85
Of those admitted to intensive care	54%	45%	63%	77%	84%
	36 to 72	38 to 52	58 to 68	73 to 81	81 to 87

#### Severe impairment

The impact of a particular impairment has ramifications for functioning in many areas and is captured in the WHO International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)<sup>(50)</sup>. Individual perception of the impact of impairment on functioning in society (i.e. disability) is highly personal and varies from family to family, dependent on their experience, knowledge and attitudes, and the support available to them. Indeed, it also varies between neonatal health professionals <sup>(51,52)</sup>. What for one individual or family may be an acceptable outcome may not be so for another.

The criteria for categorisation of impairments in neonatal studies also vary. In 1992, a working party sponsored by the National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit and Oxford Health Authority defined health status at 2 years into severe disability, likely to result in high levels of dependency on others with reduced chances of independent living or other or no

disability. This was refined in the BAPM working group document published in 2008 <sup>(26)</sup>. Other authorities have used a profound category, a subgroup of severe disability, on which to base counselling <sup>(53)</sup>. In the absence of regularly updated national data on the prevalence of profound impairments after extremely preterm birth, the working group recommended that the well-established "severe impairment" category as defined by the BAPM Working group be used to inform parents when discussing risk following extremely preterm birth. This has been used in several large population-based studies and gives a reliable estimate of risk not available from local data, where the small number of survivors introduces significant uncertainty into estimates. Generally, for extremely preterm babies, as mortality risk decreases, the risk of severe disability among survivors also decreases.

The severe impairment category includes any of:

- severe cognitive impairment with an IQ lower than 55 (<-3 standard deviation); this will usually result in the need for educational support and require supervision in daily activities
- severe cerebral palsy classified as Gross Motor Function Classification System (GMFCS) grade 3 or greater (see Box 2)
- blindness or profound hearing impairment

Estimated prevalence rates of severe impairment in four major studies are shown in Figure 4, which may be summarised as:

22+0 - 22+6 weeks:	1-in-3 survivors has severe impairment
23 <sup>+0</sup> - 23 <sup>+6</sup> weeks:	1-in-4 survivors has severe impairment
24 <sup>+0</sup> - 25 <sup>+6</sup> weeks:	1-in-7 survivors has severe impairment
26 <sup>+0</sup> - 26 <sup>+6</sup> weeks:	1-in-10 survivors has severe impairment



Figure 4 – Prevalence of severe neurodevelopmental impairment in England (2006) compared with rates reported in recent international publications using similar classifications <sup>(7,54-56)</sup>; note that data from reference 55 were kindly reanalysed by the NICHD NRN to match the UK classification.

Level III: Children walk using a hand-held mobility device in most indoor settings. When seated, children may require a seat belt for pelvic alignment and balance. Sit-to-stand and floor-to-stand transfers require physical assistance of a person or support surface. When travelling long distances, children use some form of wheeled mobility. Children may walk up and down stairs holding onto a railing with supervision or physical assistance. Limitations in walking may necessitate adaptations to enable participation in physical activities and sports including self-propelling a manual wheelchair or powered mobility.

Level IV: Children use methods of mobility that require physical assistance or powered mobility in most settings. Children require adaptive seating for trunk and pelvic control and physical assistance for most transfers. At home, children use floor mobility (roll, creep, or crawl), walk short distances with physical assistance, or use powered mobility. When positioned, children may use a body support walker at home or school. At school, outdoors and in the community, children are transported in a manual wheelchair or use powered mobility. Limitations in mobility necessitate adaptations to enable participation in physical activities and sports, including physical assistance and/or powered mobility.

Level V: Children are transported in a manual wheelchair in all settings. Children are limited in their ability to maintain antigravity head and trunk postures and to control arm and leg movements. Assistive technology is used to improve head alignment, seating, standing, and/or mobility but limitations are not fully compensated by equipment. Transfers require complete physical assistance of an adult. At home, children may move short distances on the floor or may be carried by an adult. Children may achieve self- mobility using powered mobility with extensive adaptations for seating and control access. Limitations in mobility necessitate adaptations to enable participation in physical activities and sports including physical assistance and using powered mobility.

Box 2: GMFCS Grades 3-5 description:

## Appendix 2: Situations of uncertainty and potential conflict

#### Uncertain gestational age

If gestational age is uncertain, (i.e. no dating ultrasound scan) but thought to be  $\geq 22^{+0}$  weeks, an ultrasound scan by an experienced sonographer should be carried out if time permits. If the fetal heart is heard during labour, a professional experienced in stabilisation of extremely preterm babies should attend the birth. The baby should be delivered into a plastic bag and an estimate made of gestation. Unless the baby is clearly <  $22^{+0}$  weeks of gestation, and/or estimated (or weighed) at < 350 g, stabilisation and supported transition with lung inflation, using an appropriately sized facemask, should begin, usually after one minute of deferred cord clamping. Subsequent management will be dictated by the clinical condition of the baby, the response to stabilisation manoeuvres and parental wishes and expectations. In this scenario, it is likely that the parents will have had little, if any, time to consider the situation and so it may be appropriate to proceed with initiating active (survival focused) neonatal management and to reassess the situation in the ensuing minutes, hours and days. It is noted that assessment of either gestation or risk of poor outcome based on condition at birth is not reliable <sup>(44)</sup>.

#### Rapid birth without time for counselling

Preterm labour often progresses rapidly, and there may be insufficient time for detailed discussion with the parents before the baby is born. In such a scenario, a decision about management at birth will need to be made based on the available clinical information and informed by the most recent management plan, if any. When risk is unclear (for example gestation is uncertain), and particularly if there has not been time for full discussion with parents, it would usually be reasonable to embark on a provisional plan of stabilisation +/- resuscitation – providing potentially life-sustaining treatment at delivery, but redirecting to palliative care if the baby appears very immature or responds poorly to stabilisation (for example remains severely bradycardic despite intubation and intermittent positive pressure ventilation).

#### Baby born in unexpectedly good condition

In the rare circumstance where palliative (comfort focused) care has been agreed, but a baby is born in unexpectedly good condition, attending midwifery and/paediatric medical staff should discuss with parents whether the estimated gestation and prognosis were accurate and whether the planned palliative approach is still appropriate. Stabilisation should not be delayed if deemed in the baby's best interests.

#### Baby born in unexpectedly poor condition

When active neonatal management has been agreed, but the baby is born in unexpectedly poor condition, it is the responsibility of the most senior attending neonatal professional to decide if ongoing attempts at stabilisation and/or resuscitation are in the baby's best interests. This should be conveyed sympathetically but unambiguously to parents, and palliative care offered.

#### Parents request a second opinion

If the parents wish, they should have the opportunity to discuss outcomes with a second senior member of the perinatal team. When parents do not agree with the perinatal team, recently published RCPCH guidance around dealing with conflict may be helpful <sup>(57)</sup>.

#### Threatened birth before 22<sup>+0</sup> weeks of gestation

Where gestational age is certain and is below  $22^{+0}$  weeks, it would be considered in the best interests of the baby, and standard practice, not to offer neonatal intensive care. If it is possible that the birth may be delayed to a point where active care of the baby would be planned, transfer of the mother to a maternity unit adjacent to a neonatal intensive care unit should be considered.

# Appendix 3: Communication: Guidance for professionals consulting with families at risk of extreme preterm delivery.

This Appendix is designed for use by all staff caring for families at risk of extreme preterm birth, to facilitate the sharing of consistent and accurate information. It should be used to support conversations about decision making with parents, in conjunction with written information such as the suggested Template Parental Information - Helping parents to understand extreme preterm birth (Appendix 4). Written information should never be used as a stand-alone information sharing tool.

In order properly to involve parents as equal partners in care and decision-making for their babies, all parents facing potential extreme preterm birth need to understand the risks associated with their baby's birth, and possible treatment options.

In the context of the different risk scenarios outlined in this Framework, health professionals need to consider how their approach to consulting with parents may differ, depending on the individual circumstances:

- In **extremely high risk** cases, parents should be provided with relevant information about the risk to their baby, and the recommendation that it would be best for their baby to provide palliative (comfort focused) obstetric and neonatal management. Parents should be told about the role they can play in caring for their baby and memory making after birth, and should be fully involved in decisions about how and where palliative management takes place.
- In **high risk** cases, the role of the consultation is critical in supporting parents together with professionals to decide on the right pathway for their baby. Parents should be provided with as much information as is available and should have as much time as possible, ideally over a number of discussions, to work through the different options available in order to agree with professionals what the right option is for their family.
- In **moderate risk** cases, parents should be provided with relevant information about the risk to their baby, and the recommendation that it will be best for their baby to provide active management both antenatally and after birth. Parents should be told about likely interventions and what may happen next, and be fully involved in decisions about how active treatment is managed.

Thus, consultation is most critical where delivery would be associated with a high risk of unacceptably poor outcome (see main text). In such situations, parents need support to make an informed choice about the provision of either active or palliative management; such situations demand the greatest care and sensitivity. Consultation should not be directive, but professionals should seek to determine when gentle guidance around what is likely to be in the baby's best interests would be helpful for the family.

#### When is the right time?

Evidence suggests that parents find that, where time allows, consultation is most useful at the earliest opportunity, both to allow time for information processing, discussion, and decision making, and to minimise the effects of labour and medications on cognition. Follow up consultations allowing ongoing dialogue are highly valued by families <sup>(58,59)</sup> and should be offered at any point, acknowledging the challenging nature of the information that parents are being asked to receive, the time this may take to process and the decisions that need to be made.

#### Who should be involved?

Consultation with parents should ideally be provided by the most experienced members of the perinatal team involved in care of the mother and her baby. Continuity of care is essential and, whenever possible, consultation should be delivered as a joint obstetric, neonatal and midwifery approach, ensuring transparency and consistent, clear communication. The presence of members of the multidisciplinary team (particularly nurses and midwives) during such conversations is highly valued by families, and may provide opportunity for clarification and ongoing conversation outside the formality of such settings <sup>(59,60)</sup>. Parents may also find the advice and support of their family, friends, spiritual advisers and/or voluntary organisations to be of great value at this time.

#### Structuring the Consultation

- 1. **Exploring the parents' prior knowledge and understanding** can be a useful way to open the consultation. Establishing parents' own understanding about the risks of their situation, their prior experience and knowledge, as well as their expectations of the conversation is important, both to generate trust and to ensure that the consultation meets their individual needs. Parents' hopes, priorities and expectations of the care that they and their baby will receive should be explored with sensitivity, honesty and compassion in a realistic way.
- 2. Balanced Information Studies suggest that conveying solely negative information to parents is not well received. Providing balanced information with honesty seems to be most useful to parents. Respecting parents' perspectives and the importance of hope, even in the most difficult of situations, is highly valued. Exploring parental hopes, wishes and fears in each scenario can help to do this, and to build trust and rapport with the clinical team. Where survival is not possible, or is extremely unlikely, parental hopes relating to spending time with their baby, involving family members, and memory making should be explored.
- 3. Conveying Risk Categorisation of risk to the baby of death or survival (with or without impairment) in a given scenario should be conveyed sympathetically and with clarity. Parents may find it useful to see this displayed graphically (see Appendix 4). Gestation-based risk should be explained within the context of other risk modifiers (such as birth weight, gender, multiplicity, etc.). It is important to convey information accurately, in the appropriate context. While the most relevant statistic for parents is usually the chance of survival if active stabilisation and neonatal intensive care is attempted, parents should be helped to understand that not all babies survive labour, and so outcome data depend upon the stage at which parents are being counselled. Outcome data are, of course, also highly influenced by intention to treat at delivery and it is likely that current published outcomes are skewed towards those fetuses/babies in the best condition at birth. Not all parents find percentage figures easy to understand. It can be helpful to explain in terms of odds e.g. 1 in 4, or 1 in 10. To avoid framing bias, we suggest interpreting risk neutrally. For example, "Given what we know about the situation for your baby, there is a 30% chance of your baby surviving. This means that for every 10 babies treated actively (with intensive care) in situations like this, three would survive while sadly seven would not".
- 4. Discussing Poor Outcomes There is not a simple definition of a 'poor' outcome the interpretation of this is likely to vary greatly between clinicians, parents, and families. Published data generally refer to scoring systems and classification of motor and cognitive dysfunction, but also often include children with profound vision or hearing loss. Some of these terms may not be meaningful to families, and families' views may differ on the outcome that they would regard as unacceptably poor. Therefore, discussions should always include exploration of the parents' views and values relating to an acceptable outcome.

Conveying the concept of severe disability in childhood, and the possible implications for future quality of life, is difficult. Some helpful phrases may include:

- Not being able to walk or move independently
- The possibility of being unable to speak
- Difficulties with swallowing or feeding safely
- The possibility of not being able to understand the world around them in a meaningful way
- Not being able to see or hear properly
- Not being able to live independently
- Having a lot of health care needs with frequent visits to hospital
- Needing extra educational support (or needing to attend a special school)

It is important also to highlight the potential for longer term health issues, including chronic lung disease and consequences of necrotising enterocolitis as well as milder neurodisability, behavioural problems and issues with educational achievement.

5. Discussing Palliative Care – Where appropriate, the practicalities of commencing, withholding and withdrawing intensive care and the positive role of palliative care should be described to the parents. This will help prepare them for possible outcomes after the birth. It can be useful to speak about memory making, exploring parents' hopes and wishes. We suggest referring to guidance from Together for Short Lives and the National Bereavement Care Pathway.

https://www.togetherforshortlives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/ProRes-Perinatal-Pathway-for-Babies-With-Palliative-Care-Needs.pdf

http://www.nbcpathway.org.uk/file/aw\_5844\_nbcp\_neonatal\_death\_pathway.pdf

- 6. Decision making A shared decision making process is vital, especially in situations of moderate to high risk of unacceptably poor outcome. Support and guidance should be tailored to the needs of each family. Parents should be helped to understand that, even taking all available information into account, babies may be born in unexpectedly poor or unexpectedly good condition, and that this may impact upon what care at birth would be best for their baby.
- **7. Parental involvement in care** Evidence suggests parents find it very useful to hear how they can be involved in care for their baby. "Family-centred care means supporting parents to be involved in their baby's care" <sup>(61,62)</sup> this should start before birth.

Where it is planned to offer active care to the baby, and time allows, parents should be given an opportunity to visit the neonatal unit and to meet staff, and should receive information and support regarding expressing breast milk and the other ways that they could be involved in the hands-on care of their baby if s/he is admitted to the neonatal unit.

8. Documentation and follow up - Communication and agreed plans should be documented in full in the clinical record and plans revised regularly if pregnancy continues and/or depending upon the condition of the baby at birth and in the early days after birth. If in utero transfer is undertaken, the content and results of previous conversations should be clearly communicated (verbally, and in writing) with the receiving centre. Evidence suggests that parents find it very useful to receive supplemental information such as written information, visual aids and links to other resources. We include a suggested template for this information below.

## Appendix 4: Helping parents to understand extreme preterm birth.

#### Who is this information for?

You have been given this information because your healthcare team think that you may have your baby extremely early (prematurely). You and your family need to know what is likely to happen for you and your baby if this occurs. The maternity team and neonatal (specialist baby doctors and nurses) team will talk to you about this in detail as well as giving you this information and you will have the opportunity to ask any questions that you wish.

#### What does this mean?

A pregnancy usually lasts for about 40 weeks. How many weeks you are along in your pregnancy (gestation) is usually worked out from an ultrasound scan at around 12 weeks (your dating scan).

Babies born before 22 weeks are so small and fragile that they do not survive. Their lungs and other organs are not ready for them to live outside the womb. Such tiny babies may show signs of life for a short time after birth but even with the very best neonatal care they cannot survive for more than a few minutes or hours.

Babies born from 22 weeks sometimes are not strong enough to survive labour and either vaginal (normal) or caesarean birth. If they are born alive, they may be able to survive if they receive intensive medical treatment. However, some extremely premature babies sadly die despite this treatment. The earlier the baby is born, the less likely it is that they will be able to survive.

Babies who are born extremely early are also at increased risk of problems with health and development as they grow up. These risks get higher the earlier (more prematurely) a baby is born, and are especially common in those children born before 25 weeks of gestation. Health problems may include breathing difficulties, gut problems (including difficulties with feeding) and eye problems. Developmental problems may include problems with movement, learning and behaviour that can range from mild to very severe; such problems are described on the following page.

The doctors and midwives will talk to you about what they expect for your baby. In some situations, there are difficult decisions to be made about how to care for your baby before and after birth. The right thing to do can be different for different families. That is why it is important that you are fully informed and feel able to let the doctors and midwives know your wishes for your baby.

## Outcome for babies born alive between 22 & 26 weeks' gestation<sup>†</sup>

Survival Died Survived In babies who receive intensive treatment Severe disability • Severe disability In survivors\*\*

No severe disability\*\*





6 in 10 babies die [56 to 68%]\* 

7 in 10 babies die

3 in 10 babies survive

[51 to 79%]\*

4 in 10 babies survive







1 in 3 babies has severe disability [24 to 43%]

2 in 3 do not\*\*

1 in 4 babies has severe disability [16 to 33%]

3 in 4 do not\*\*

1 in 7 babies has severe disability [11 to 24%]

6 in 7 do not\*\*











1 in 7 babies has severe disability [10 to 21%]

6 in 7 do not\*\*



9 in 10 do not\*\*

#### The survival percentages are for babies who are born alive and receive active stabilisation.

<sup>†</sup>Some babies born this prematurely cannot survive labour and birth

- \* The lower and upper figures indicate how certain we are of the true survival rate.
- \*\* Up to a quarter of children without severe disability may nonetheless have milder forms of disability such as learning difficulty, mild cerebal palsy or behavioural problems.

#### 'Outcome'

These pictures are based on what we know about the small number of babies born extremely prematurely in the UK. They show how many babies survive out of every 10 babies born alive this early, and of those who do survive, how many are likely to have a 'severe disability' when they grow up.

The majority of babies grow up without severe disability. A proportion of these children will develop other problems as they grow up which may mean, for example, that they need extra help in school or have problems with walking or moving around. Some may have social and emotional problems. The frequency with which children have these problems is greatest the earlier they are born, and problems are most common in children born at 22 to 24 weeks of gestation.

The chance for your baby depends on a number of different things. As well as how early they are born, it also matters how much your baby weighs when it is born, whether it is a boy or girl, whether it is a multiple birth and also how well you and your baby are around the time of birth.

#### What does 'severe disability' mean?

Disability can mean different things to different people. When talking about babies who have been born extremely prematurely, the term severe disability includes problems such as:

- Not being able to walk or even get around independently (this includes conditions such as severe cerebral palsy)
- Being unable to talk, or see or hear properly
- Difficulties with swallowing or feeding safely
- Having multiple health problems with frequent visits to hospital
- Needing to attend separate school for children with special educational needs
- Being unable to care for themselves or live independently as they grow up

#### What does this mean for your baby?

We don't know exactly the future for your baby. Every baby is different and it is important to talk with your doctors and midwife. They will give you specific information about your own and your baby's condition.

#### What can parents do?

What is right for your baby and your family is very individual to you. Your doctors will talk with you about your situation and seek to understand what is important for you and your family. They will support and guide you and involve you in making decisions about treatment for your baby. Thinking about your hopes, your wishes, and your fears about your baby can help the team to support you in the best way possible.

#### What may happen with my baby?

**Stillbirth:** Some babies who are born this early do not survive labour and delivery. If this happens your baby will be given to you to hold for as long as you would like. You will have the opportunity to spend as much time with them as you would like and to make memories with them. Under UK law only babies born after 24 completed weeks of gestation can be registered as stillborn.

**Neonatal Intensive Care:** You and the team may decide that starting neonatal intensive care would be best for your baby. This will mean you will need some extra treatments before your baby is born. You will be given steroids to help the baby's lungs and brain and magnesium which also helps to protect your baby's brain. You may need to be transferred to a specialist centre, ideally before you have your baby, but there may not be time to do this safely. The team will also talk to you about the treatment that will be given to your baby immediately after birth and what may happen next depending on how your baby reacts to this treatment.

If you and the team decide that intensive care is best for your baby, you should be offered the opportunity to be shown around the neonatal unit (if there is time for this) as it may help to see the neonatal unit and meet the people that work there before your baby is born. You can also talk to staff about expressing breast milk, as this makes such a big difference for premature babies. **Comfort Care:** You and the team may decide that it will be best to provide comfort care to your baby, either because there is an extremely high risk that your baby will not survive or he/she is likely to suffer from life-long disability even with the very best treatment. Comfort care is also known as palliative care and is special care for babies whose time is precious but short. It means providing treatments that will make their time as comfortable as possible. We will help you to be part of this care if you would like. Holding your baby close to you and talking to your baby may be very comforting.

More information about comfort care or 'palliative care' for babies is available from Together for Short Lives.

#### What if my baby doesn't come now?

If your baby does not come in the next few days their chances may improve. Ideally, they will stay in the womb for as long as possible (depending on the health of you and your baby).

If that happens there may be different options for you and your baby around the time of birth. That will depend on when your baby comes and on other things that affect the baby's chances of responding to treatment. If this is the case, your healthcare team will continue the conversation with you about what has changed and what different options may be available depending on when your baby is likely to be born, and you will be able to discuss and revise your agreed plans accordingly.

#### What might my baby look like?

Babies born this early can weigh less than half a kilogram (1 small packet of sugar) and can look quite different to how we imagine a newborn baby. Their skin is shiny and thin and covered with fine hair. Sometimes babies can be quite bruised from the birth. If the baby has died before being born, they will usually be still. Occasionally, where babies have died very close to being born, they may make brief reflex movements that disappear very quickly.

If your baby is born alive, they may take a breath and make a small cry or they may not breathe. Their eyes may not be able to open yet. The baby's colour is often purple or blue to start with.

#### Transfer to a different hospital

When you have decided with the obstetric and neonatal care teams that starting neonatal intensive care would be best for your baby, research shows that for babies born before 27 weeks of gestation it is best, whenever possible, to be born in a specialist maternity unit with a specialist Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (sometimes called a 'Level 3 NICU'). If a baby born before 27 weeks of gestation is born in a maternity unit (or at home) where there is not a specialist NICU, then we know that the baby will generally do better if moved to a specialist NICU after birth.

If your hospital does not have a specialist NICU, this may mean that you will be offered transfer to one of these centres before your baby is born. We understand that this can be a very anxious time and that you may be moved quite some distance from home. It can be very difficult to predict which mothers will deliver early and so some mothers may be moved to another hospital and their baby not born early.

It may also be the case that you are considered too unwell or too far on in labour to be safely moved to another hospital before your baby is born. When it is not possible to transfer you before the baby has been born your baby may be transferred by a specialist Neonatal Transport Team after the birth. Your own health needs may mean you will be unable to travel immediately with your baby but your local maternity team will do everything they can to move you to the same unit as your baby as soon as it is safe to do so.

We appreciate that moving to another hospital can be distressing for you and your family, especially if you are separated from your baby for a while. We will talk to you about this in more detail if it is decided that this is the best option for your family.

#### What if I have more questions?

This information has been provided to you as part of the conversation that your healthcare team will have with you about your baby. If you have any other questions do make sure you ask your doctors and nurses to answer them, so you have all the information you need about your situation and the options available to you. Your healthcare team want to work with you make the best decision for your baby and for your family.

This space is for the health care team who are discussing this with you to write extra details about your baby or babies.

You may want to use this space to write down some questions to discuss with the team.

Many families find it useful to have follow-up discussions, so please ask to speak to the neonatal and maternity team again at any point.

#### Useful contact details:

Bliss - Premature and sick baby charity

http://www.bliss.org.uk/

#### Together for Short Lives - Charity for babies and children with life-limiting conditions

https://www.togetherforshortlives.org.uk/ Helpline: 0808 8088 100

Sands - Stillbirth and neonatal death charity https://www.uk-sands.org/ Helpline: 0808 1643332 Email helpline@sands.org.uk

## Appendix 5: Example scenarios

#### Case 1.

A mother has been admitted to a local maternity unit in preterm labour at 24<sup>+3</sup> weeks of gestation. The singleton male fetus is very small with an estimated weight of 450 grams. The mother has not yet received antenatal steroids. The oncall paediatric team is asked to provide counselling and attend the birth. As per the Framework, the first step is to assess the risk for the baby if delivery occurs. At a gestation of 24<sup>+3</sup> weeks, the average survival rate for liveborn babies in the UK (if active treatment is provided) would be approximately 60%, with a 1 in 7 risk of severe impairment among survivors. However, in this case, the very low birth weight for the gestational age in a male fetus increases the risk. It is difficult to quantify this risk, but the baby's prognosis is worse than average for 24 weeks of gestation, and within the "high" risk category. Given the risk for the infant, counselling should, if possible, be provided by an experienced senior trainee or consultant neonatologist in conjunction with the obstetric team. If possible, this counselling should take place after the local team has discussed the case with the nearest NICU. It would be appropriate to provide active obstetric and neonatal management if that were desired by the parents. However, it would also be appropriate to provide palliative care, if that was felt by the parents to be in the baby's best interests.

In this case, the parents decide after consultation that they wish the baby to receive palliative (comfort focused) care. Labour progresses and a live-born baby is delivered weighing 460 grams. He is bruised and floppy with a heart rate of 50 beats per minute. The paediatric team attend to support provision of palliative care. The baby is wrapped and given to his parents to hold. He dies at approximately 30 minutes of age.

#### Case 2.

A mother presents to her local maternity unit (SCBU) at 22<sup>+0</sup> weeks of gestation with bulging membranes and active preterm labour. No antenatal steroids have been given, and the estimated weight of the male fetus is 510g. There is an extremely high risk of poor outcome for this fetus if delivery occurs within a short period of time. The mother and her partner are informed of the likely outcome, and advised that active (survival focused) management is not considered to be appropriate. The mother receives palliative obstetric management, and the infant is stillborn.

#### Case 3.

A mother presents in preterm labour to a level 2 centre at 22<sup>+3</sup> weeks of gestation. The fetus was conceived by IVF and gestation is certain. The fetus is female and has an estimated fetal weight of 480 grams. The mother has not yet received antenatal steroids. The paediatric team is asked to provide counselling and attend the birth. Risk assessment in this case indicates that if birth occurs imminently, there would be an extremely high risk of the baby dying or of surviving with severe impairment. If labour progresses, it would be usual to provide palliative care at birth. The neonatal team may attend the birth to provide support for palliative care, but not to provide resuscitation. However, there are potentially modifiable risk factors in this case. In the absence of evidence of chorioamnionitis, it may be possible to delay preterm birth with tocolysis and so, if the parents desire, an active approach to management, antenatal transfer and corticosteroids could be provided.

Two days later, at 22<sup>+5</sup> weeks, following transfer to a maternity unit co-located with NICU and administration of steroids, labour progresses. Given the advance in gestation, availability of specialised neonatal intensive care, and anticipated effect of corticosteroids, the baby's risk is now judged to fall in the "high" category. Accordingly, after further consultation with parents, it would be appropriate to provide active management if this is what parents wish.

In this case, the parents decide that they wish the baby to receive active neonatal care, magnesium sulphate is given, and a live baby is born weighing 490 grams. The baby is intubated, receives surfactant and is transferred to neonatal intensive care.

#### Case 4.

A mother presents to her local maternity unit at 25<sup>+2</sup> weeks of gestation in early labour. She has a well grown female fetus. She is offered, and accepts, antenatal steroids, but declines transfer to the nearest NICU (1 hour's journey away) where a cot is available. Her partner asks the obstetric team what would be best for the baby, and it is clear to the midwife that parents disagree about transfer.

**Recommended action:** as part of the consultation with parents, the reasons why transfer is being recommended should be clearly explained. Data show that for the most preterm babies, prognosis (both survival and neurodevelopmental outcome) is better if they are delivered in a maternity unit adjacent to a NICU. It can be difficult to predict preterm labour, and so early transfer is preferred. It would be important to explore reasons why the mother does not wish to be transferred and to address all of her concerns. If the mother still refuses transfer she cannot be moved, but she should be offered magnesium sulphate and counselled that the baby will be moved after delivery. In this instance, the best interests of the child would be served by early care in a NICU. It would be prudent to alert both the NICU and the local transport team, as well as to think about who will be available to stabilise the baby after birth. The mother should also be informed that, while every effort will be made to move her to a maternity facility adjacent to the NICU, her transfer may need to be delayed if she is unwell after delivery.

#### Case 5.

A woman is transferred to a level 3 centre at 23<sup>+6</sup> weeks of gestation in preterm labour following premature rupture of membranes two days earlier. She had received steroids prior to transfer. The female fetus appears well grown and there are no signs of fetal compromise. After discussion with the neonatal team, and being informed about the outcomes of preterm delivery, the mother expresses that she is very concerned about the possibility of the baby surviving with severe disability. She requests no active obstetric management, and palliative care of the baby at delivery.

The neonatal team advises the mother that, taking all factors into account, her baby would have a moderate risk of dying or of severe disability. It would be usual to provide active management of the baby in this situation, with the knowledge that if complications develop in the neonatal intensive care unit, there would be the option of later withdrawal of life-prolonging treatment. The mother agrees to this plan and the baby is born a few hours later, receives stabilisation in the delivery room and is transferred to the neonatal intensive care unit.

## References

1. Critical care decisions in fetal and neonatal medicine: ethical issues. Nuffield Council on Bioethics 2006 www.nuffieldbioethics.org

2. Costeloe K, Hennessy E, Gibson AT, Marlow N, Wilkinson AR, The EPICure study: Outcome to discharge from hospital for infants at the threshold of viability. Pediatrics 2000;106:659-671.

3. Marlow N, Wolke D, Bracewell M, Samara M, for the EPICure Study Group. Neurologic and developmental disability at 6 years of age after extremely preterm birth. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:9-19.

4. Perinatal Management of Pregnant Women at the Threshold of Infant Viability. RCOG Scientific Impact Paper No. 41 (2014) available at https://www.rcog.org.uk/en/guidelines-research-services/guidelines/sip41/ Accessed 21/01/18

5. Costeloe KL, Hennessy EM, Haider S, Stacey F, Marlow N, Draper ES. Short term outcomes after extreme preterm birth in England: comparison of two birth cohorts in 1995 and 2006 (the EPICure studies). BMJ 2012:345:e7976.

6. Santhakumaran S, Statnikov Y, Gray D, Battersby C, Ashby D, Modi N, on behalf of the Medicines for Neonates Investigator Group. Survival of very preterm infants admitted to neonatal care in England 2008–2014: time trends and regional variation. Arch Dis Child 2018;103:F208-F215.

7. Moore T, Hennessy EM, Myles J, Johnson SJ et al. Neurological and developmental outcome in extremely preterm children born in England in 1995 and 2006: the EPICure studies. BMJ 2012;345:e7961

8. Smith LK, Draper ES, Manktelow BN, Fenton A, Kurinczuk J on behalf of the MBRRACE-UK Collaboration. MBRRACE-UK Report on survival up to one year of age of babies born before 27 weeks gestational age for births in Great Britain from January to December 2016. Leicester: The Infant Mortality and Morbidity Studies, Department of Health Sciences, University of Leicester. 2018.

9. Norman M, Hallberg B, Abrahamsson T, Björklund LJ, et al. Association between year of birth and 1-year survival among extremely preterm infants in Sweden during 2004-2007 and 2014-2016. JAMA 2019;321:1188–12.

10. Patel RM, Rysavy MA, Bell EF, Tyson JE. Survival of Infants Born at Periviable Gestational Ages

Clin Perinatol 2017;44:287–303.

11. Mehler K, Oberthuer A, KellerT, Becker I et al. Survival among infants born at 22 or 23 weeks' gestation following active prenatal and postnatal care. JAMA Pediatrics 2016;170:671–77.

12. Myrhaug HT, Brurberg KG, Hov L, Markestad T. Survival and impairment of extremely premature infants: a metaanalysis. Pediatrics 2019;143:e20180933

13. Guillén U, Weiss EM, Munson D, Maton P et al. Guidelines for the Management of Extremely Premature Deliveries: A Systematic Review. Pediatrics 2015;136:343-50.

14. Lemyre B, Moore G. Counselling and management for anticipated extremely preterm birth. Paediatr Child Health 2017;22:334–341.

15. Wilkinson D, Verhagen E. Thresholds for resuscitation of extremely preterm infants in the UK, Sweden, and Netherlands. Pediatrics 2018;142:s1

16. POPPY Steering Group, Family-centred care in neonatal units: A summary of research results and recommendations from the POPPY Project, 2009; NHS England, Neonatal Critical Care Transformation Review, 2018

17. Rysavy MA, Li L, Bell EF, Das A et al. Between-hospital variation in treatment and outcomes in extremely preterm infants. N Engl J Med 2015;372:1801-11.

18. https://www.togetherforshortlives.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/ProRes-Core-Care-Pathway.pdf

Accessed 3/5/19

**19**. Larcher V, Craig F, Bhogal K, Wilkinson D, Brierley J, on behalf of the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Making decisions to limit treatment in life-limiting and life-threatening conditions in children: a framework for practice. Arch Dis Child 2015;100:s1-s23.

20. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng25/chapter/Update-information Accessed 8/9/19

21. https://www.england.nhs.uk/south/wp-content/uploads/sites/6/2017/07/south-east-scn-reducing-preterm-birth-recommendations.pdf Accessed 23/5/19

22. https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/saving-babies-lives-car-bundl.pdf Accessed 23/5/19

23. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg62 Accessed 28/5/19

24. Papageorghiou AT, Kemp B, Stones W, Ohuma EO et al.; International Fetal and Newborn Growth Consortium for the 21st Century (INTERGROWTH-21st). Ultrasound-based gestational-age estimation in late pregnancy. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2016;48:719-26.

25. Wilkinson D. Death or Disability? The Carmentis machine and decision making for critically ill children. Oxford University Press. 2013

26. Available at: https://www.networks.nhs.uk/nhs-networks/staffordshire-shropshire-and-black-country-newborn/documents/2\_year\_Outcome\_BAPM\_WG\_report\_v6\_Jan08.pdf. Accessed 26/2/19

27. Xiao D, Zhu T, Qu Y, Gou X et al. Maternal chorioamnionitis and neurodevelopmental outcomes in preterm and very preterm neonates: A meta-analysis. PLoS One 2018;13(12); (12):e0208302

28. Park GY, Park WS, Yoo HS, Ahn SY et al. Short-term outcomes comparison between preterm infants with and without acute hypoxic respiratory failure attributable to presumed pulmonary hypoplasia after prolonged preterm premature rupture of membranes before 25 gestational weeks. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2018;13:1-8.

29. Roberts D, Brown J, Medley N, Dalziel SR. Antenatal corticosteroids for accelerating fetal lung maturation for women at risk of preterm birth. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2017, Issue 3. Art. No.: CD004454. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004454.pub3

30. Travers CP, Clark RH, Spitzer AR, Das A, Garite TJ, Carlo WA. Exposure to any antenatal corticosteroids and outcomes in preterm infants by gestational age: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2017;356:j1039

31. Ehret DEY, Edwards EM, Greenberg LT, Bernstein IM et al. Association of antenatal steroid exposure with survival among infants receiving postnatal life support at 22 to 25 weeks' gestation. JAMA Network Open. 2018;1(6):e183235.

32. Doyle LW, Crowther CA, Middleton P, Marret S, Rouse D. Magnesium sulphate for women at risk of preterm birth for neuroprotection of the fetus. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2009, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD004661. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD004661.pub3

33. Marlow N, Bennett C, Draper ES, Hennessy EM, Morgan AS, Costeloe KL. Perinatal outcomes for extremely preterm babies in relation to place of birth in England: the EPICure 2 study. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2014;99:F181–F188.

34. Neonatal Service Quality Indicators Standards relating to Structures and Processes supporting Quality and Patient Safety in Neonatal Services. BAPM, June 2017. Available at https://www.bapm.org/sites/default/files/files/NSQI%20FINAL\_0.pdf

35. David AL, Soe A. Extreme prematurity and perinatal management. The Obstetrician and Gynaecologist 2018;20:109-17.

36. https://www.gov.scot/publications/best-start-five-year-forward-plan-maternity-neonatal-care-scotland/

Accessed 10/8/19

37 – Helenius K, Longford N, Lehtonen L, Modi N, Gale, C on behalf of the Neonatal Data Analysis Unit and the United Kingdom Neonatal Collaborative. Association of early postnatal transfer and birth outside a tertiary hospital with

mortality and severe brain injury in extremely preterm infants: observational cohort study with propensity matching. BMJ 2019 online publication https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.15678

38. Fogarty M, Osborn D, Askie L, Seidler AL et al. Delayed vs early umbilical cord clamping for preterm infants: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obs Gyn 2018;218:1-8

39. Grabovac M, Karim JN, Isayama T, Korale Liyanage S, McDonald SD. What is the safest mode of birth for extremely preterm breech singleton infants who are actively resuscitated? A systematic review and meta-analyses. BJOG 2018;125:652–663.

40. Reddy UM, Rice MM, Grobman WA, Bailit JL et al. Serious maternal complications after early preterm delivery (24–33 weeks' gestation). Am J Obstet Gynecol 2015;213:538.e1-9.

41. Blanc J, Resseguier N, Goffinet F, Lorthe E et al. Association between gestational age and severe maternal morbidity and mortality of preterm caesarean delivery: a population-based cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2019;220:399.e1-9.

42. https://rcpsg.ac.uk/college/this-is-what-we-stand-for/policy/consent/the-montgomery-case. Accessed 4/9/19.

43. https://www.resus.org.uk/resuscitation-guidelines/resuscitation-and-support-of-transition-of-babies-at-birth/ Accessed 19/9/18

44. Manley BJ, Dawson JA, Omar F, Kamlin C et al. Clinical assessment of extremely premature infants in the delivery room is a poor predictor of survival. Pediatrics 2010;125:559-64.

45. Wyckoff HM, Salhab WA, Heyne RJ, Kendrick DE, Stoll BJ, Laptook AR. Outcome of extremely low birth weight infants who received delivery room cardiopulmonary resuscitation. J Pediatr 2012;160:239-44.

46. Haines M, Wright IM, Bajuk B, Abdel-Latif ME et al. Population-based study shows that resuscitating apparently stillborn extremely preterm babies is associated with poor outcomes. Acta Paediatrica 2016;105:1305-11.

47. McGrath JS, Roehr CC, Wilkinson D. When should resuscitation at birth cease? Early Human Development 2016; 101:31-36

48. Macfarlane PI, Wood S, Bennett J. Non-viable delivery at 20-23 weeks gestation: observations and signs of life after birth. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2003;88: F199-202.

49. http://www.nbcpathway.org.uk/file/aw\_5844\_nbcp\_neonatal\_death\_pathway.pdf. Accessed 3/5/19

50. Bax M, Goldstein M, Rosenbaum P, Leviton A et al. Executive Committee for the Definition of Cerebral Palsy. Proposed definition and classification of cerebral palsy. Dev Med Child Neurol 2005;47:571-6.

51. Gallagher K, Marlow N, Edgley A, Porock D. The attitudes of neonatal nurses towards extremely preterm infants. Journal of Advanced Nursing 2012;68:1768-79.

52. Gallagher K, Aladangady N, Marlow N. The attitudes of neonatologists towards extremely preterm infants: a Q methodological study. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition 2016;101:31-36.

53. Tyson J, Parikh N, Langer J, Green C, Higgins J and The National Institute Of Child Health And Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Intensive care for extreme prematurity -- moving beyond gestational age. NEJM 2008;358:1672

54. Serenius F1, Källén K, Blennow M, Ewald U, Fellman V, Holmström G, Lindberg E, Lundqvist P, Maršál K, Norman M, Olhager E, Stigson L, Stjernqvist K, Vollmer B, Strömberg B; EXPRESS Group. Neurodevelopmental outcome in extremely preterm infants at 2.5 years after active perinatal care in Sweden. JAMA. 2013 May 1;309(17):1810-20. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.3786.

55. Adams-Chapman I, Heyne RJ, DeMauro SB, Duncan AF et al. for the Follow-Up Study of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research Network. Neurodevelopmental impairment among extremely preterm infants in the neonatal research network. Pediatrics 2018;141:e20173091.

56. Ding S, Lemyre B, Daboval T, Barrowman N, Gregory P. Moore G. A meta-analysis of neurodevelopmental outcomes

at 4–10 years in children born at 22–25 weeks gestation. Acta Pædiatrica 2019;108:1237-44.

57. https://www.rcpch.ac.uk/news-events/news/new-advice-seeks-prevent-parent-doctor-conflict-paediatrics Accessed 28/5/19

58. Young E, Tsai E, O'Riordan A. A qualitative study of predelivery counselling for extreme prematurity. Paediatr Child Health 2012;17:432-6.

59. Kharrat A, Moore GP, Beckett S, Nicholls SG, Sampson M, Daboval T. Antenatal consultations at extreme prematurity: a systematic review of parent communication needs. J Pediatr 2018;196:109-15.

60. Kaempf JW, Tomlinson MW, Campbell B, Ferguson L, Stewart VT. Counseling pregnant women who may deliver extremely premature infants: medical care guidelines, family choices, and neonatal outcomes. Pediatr 2009;123:1509-15.

61. https://www.bliss.org.uk/health-professionals/bliss-baby-charter

62. https://www.bapm.org/NSQI Accessed 10/8/19